FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 1/9/2020 4:53 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/10/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. <u>98</u>069-1

COA No. 36183-7-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE LLC,

Appellant,

VS.

DANNY R. SCHULTZ, et al.,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW OF APPELLANT NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE LLC d/b/a CHAMPION MORTGAGE COMPANY

Joseph Ward McIntosh WSBA No. 39470 McCarthy & Holthus, LLOP 108 1st Ave S, Ste. 300 Seattle, WA 98104-2104 Phone: (206) 596-4842 jmcintosh@mccarthyholthus.com Counsel for Appellant Nationstar Mortgage, LLC d/b/a Champion Mortgage Company

WSBA No. 29410
Steven J. Dixson

IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Nationstar Mortgage LLC d/b/a Champion Mortgage Company.

COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Nationstar seeks review of the unpublished opinion in *Nationstar Mortgage LLC d/b/a Champion Mortgage Company v. Danny R. Schultz, et al.*, Court of Appeals (Division Three), No. 36183-7-III, filed on July 13, 2018. The Appendix provides a copy of the decision at pages A-1 through A-9.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the court of appeals erred in holding the survivorship conveyance deed unambiguous and not considering extrinsic evidence of the grantor's intent.
- 2. Whether the court of appeals erred in affirming the superior court's holding the deed created a life estate.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal concerns the property located at 1011 Coach Ct., Grandview, Washington 98930-9461 in Yakima County (**property**). On

January 11, 2010, a survivorship conveyance deed was recorded in the real property records of Yakima County (**deed**) (CP 62, 108). It is dated November 19, 2009 and signed by Danny R. Schultz. It states:

THE GRANTOR, DANNY R. SCHULTZ, a single person, for and in consideration of love and affection, grants and conveys to PATRICIA J. SMALL, a married person as her separate estate, and MARGARET A. DUKE, a single person, a complete and unlimited right of survivorship jointly between them, in all of his interest in the following described real estate, situated in the County of Yakima, State of Washington:

Lot 62, Carriage Square, Yakima County, Washington.

ASSESSOR'S PARCEL NO. 230923-33461

TOGETHER WITH all water rights and appurtenances including after acquired title, if any, thereunto belonging.

SUBJECT TO rights reserved in federal patents, state or railroad deeds; building or use restrictions general to the area; zoning regulations; all rights of way, easements, reservations, restrictions, agreements, covenants and conditions appearing in the record of title or apparent on inspection of said premises and/or plat.

The rights of Grantees hereunder shall be superior to all interests created by Grantor hereafter, or imposed by law hereafter, if any.

Grantor hereby warrants and agrees to defend Grantee against any defects appearing in title to said real estate to the extent that such defects are insured against under a title insurance policy for said real estate where the Grantor is a named Insured.

The Grantor, for it and its successors in interests, does by these presents expressly limit the covenants of this deed to those herein expressed, and excludes all covenants arising or to arise by statutory or other implication (CP 62-63).

The deed was drafted by attorney Eric Gustafson (CP 165-66).

On November 23, 2010, Mr. Schultz executed a fixed rate home equity conversion closed end note promising to repay a loan which he secured with a home equity conversion deed of trust (CP 27-38). The deed of trust was subsequently assigned to Nationstar (CP 44).

Mr. Schultz defaulted on the loan in February 2014 and Nationstar filed the underlying foreclosure action in the superior court of Yakima County. Patricia J. Small and Margaret A. Duke were added as defendants to the foreclosure action (CP 13-48). Ms. Small and Ms. Duke were represented by the same attorney which drafted the deed (CP 49-63). They counterclaimed to quiet title (*Id.*).

The foreclosure action was stayed due to Mr. Schultz's bankruptcy in July 2014 (CP 102). It was later dismissed in 2017 (*Id.*). Ms. Duke and Ms. Small moved for summary judgment on all claims (CP 75-97). Despite having drafted the deed, Ms. Duke and Ms. Small's attorney could not articulate the exact meaning of the deed (CP 85-89). He argued it should be construed either as creating a joint tenancy with right of survivorship in his clients' favor or in favor of his clients and Mr. Schultz

(*Id.*). Ms. Small and Ms. Duke submitted declarations in support of their motion demonstrating it was unclear what the deed did but claiming they received an "absolute interest in the Property that [Mr. Schultz] could not thereafter encumber" (CP 68-74). They also requested sanctions (CP 89-97, 147).

Nationstar opposed their motion for summary judgment arguing the deed is ambiguous and nonsensical (CP 142-147). Due to the ambiguity, Nationstar introduced extrinsic evidence demonstrating Mr. Schultz did not intend to transfer a superior vested interested Ms. Duke and Ms. Small. *Id.* Nationstar provided the following extrinsic evidence:

- Mr. Schultz's sworn bankruptcy schedules demonstrating his sole ownership of the property (CP 150);
- Bankruptcy pleading filed by Mr. Schulz in June 2016 identifying a dispute with Ms. Small over the ownership of the property (CP 151-52);
- The deed of trust signed by Mr. Schultz representing his "right to grant and convey the Property" (CP 28).

Nationstar also submitted a declaration detailing ongoing attempts to reach Mr. Schultz to obtain sworn testimony concerning the deed and the dispute with Ms. Duke and Ms. Small (CP 148-49).

The Superior Court held the deed is unambiguous wherein a life estate was reserved for Mr. Schultz with the remainder to Ms. Duke and Ms. Small (CP 173-76.) This result was not one of many presented to the superior court by Ms. Small and Ms. Duke. The Superior Court stated the deed was "in-artfully drafted" and the litigation was a "self-inflicted wound" (Report of Proceedings 28-29). Nationstar appealed.

On appeal, the Court of Appeals affirmed, holding the deed is unambiguous and "can only be read as conveying all of Mr. Schultz's property interests to Ms. Small and Ms. Duke." Although the Court of Appeals disagreed with the Superior Court concerning the life estate, it affirmed as Ms. Duke and Ms. Small failed to cross appeal.

ARGUMENT

I. THE LOWER COURTS ERRED IN HOLDING THE DEED IS <u>UNAMBIGUOUS AND NOT CONSIDERING EXTRINSIC</u> EVIDENCE.

The Court of Appeals and Superior Court both erred in holding the deed is unambiguous and by ignoring the extrinsic evidence tendered by Nationstar. "[C]onstruction of deeds is a matter of law for the court". *Niemann v. Vaughn Cmty. Church*, 154 Wn. 2d 365, 374, 113 P.3d 463, 467 (2005). "In other words, '[i]t is a factual question to determine the intent of the parties' with the court then 'apply[ing] the rules of law to

determine the legal consequences of that intent.' " *Id.* at 374-375 (quoting *Veach v. Culp*, 92 Wn.2d 570, 573, 599 P.2d 526 (1979).

As this Court has held, if ambiguity exists, extrinsic evidence should be considered to show the intentions of the original parties. *Sunnyside Valley Irr. Dist. v. Dickie*, 149 Wn.2d 873, 880, 73 P.3d 369, 372 (2003). The lower courts failed to adhere to this. A simple review of the deed makes clear it is replete with ambiguity, and as much as found by the Superior Court. The language confused the drafting attorney as demonstrated by his many possibilities of meaning of the deed. It confused Ms. Small and Ms. Duke. Ambiguity is further demonstrated by the disagreement by the Superior Court and Court of Appeals. They disagreed concerning whether a life estate exists. The Court of Appeals held it did not and opined all of Mr. Schultz's interest was conveyed to Ms. Small and Ms. Duke. The holding of the Court of Appeals and Superior Court conflict with the opinions of this Court.

II. THE DEED DOES NOT CREATE A LIFE ESTATE

If the deed is unambiguous (which it is not), it does not create a life estate and such a finding goes against the precedent of this court. "A life estate is limited in duration to the life of a named person or persons." *See v. Hennigar*, 151 Wn. App. 669, 673 (2009) (citing 17 William B. Stoebuck & John W. Weaver, Washington Practice: Real Estate: Property

Law § 1.4, at 6 (2d ed. 2004)). Washington Practice further requires "... [t]o convey a life estate, the grantor needs to add language to the granting clause, the words 'for his life' or 'for the life of X' being sufficient ..."

The evidence does not support a life estate. The deed does not create an interest measured by and terminating at the death of an identified individual, and with a future interest. Rather, the deed contemplates the conveyance of a single present interest, not limited in duration, and does not terminate, but rather "survives." The drafting attorney practices in estate planning and failed to use life estate language in the deed. He also used technical terms: "jointly" and "survivorship" indicative of a "joint tenancy with the right of survivorship," which is a recognized form of co-ownership of real property. RCW 64.28 (authorizing and governing joint tenancies with a right of survivorship); *Berg v. Hudesman*, 115 Wn.2d 657, 669 (1990) (technical language is to be given its technical meaning). The drafting attorney also presented two theories to the Superior Court which did not contain a life estate.

The most accurate "four corners" interpretation, is the alternative possibility offered by Ms. Small and Ms. Duke in their summary judgment motion: the deed created a joint tenancy with the right of survivorship between Mr. Schultz, Ms. Small, and Ms. Duke.

This interpretation harmonizes the technical terms "jointly" and "survivorship". Mr. Schultz would need to be included as a joint tenant with Ms. Small and Ms. Duke, because contemplates Mr. Schultz keeping an interest that he could encumber:

The rights of Grantees hereunder shall be superior to all interests created by Grantor hereafter, or imposed by law hereafter, if any.

This provision is superfluous if Mr. Schultz did not retain any interest in the property. *Hodgins v. State*, 9 Wn. App. 486 (1973) (in the construction of a deed, a court must give meaning to every word if reasonably possible).

Also, Mr. Schultz did remain in possession of the property, showing an intent for him to retain a possessory interest. *Newport Yacht Basin Ass'n of Condo. Owners v. Supreme Nw., Inc.*, 168 Wn. App. 56, 65 (2012) (citing *King County v. Hanson Inv. Co.*, 34 Wn.2d 112, 126 (1949)) (court will consider the subsequent conduct of the parties in determining their intent at the time the deed was executed).

CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals erred in holding the deed is unambiguous and failing to consider the extrinsic evidence provided by Nationstar and affirming the Superior Court's ruling of a life estate. This Court should undo this error by issuing a decision reversing the Court of

Appeals and remanding the case with instructions to the Superior Court to analyze the intent of the parties with extrinsic evidence.