FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/7/2020 1:45 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 98069-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE, LLC

Plaintiff / Petitioner

v.

DANNY SCHULTZ, et al.

Defendants / Respondents

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Michael F. Shinn WSBA #14679 Halverson | Northwest Law Group P.C. 405 East Lincoln Avenue Yakima, WA 98901 Telephone: (509) 248-6030

Facsimile: (509) 453-6880

mshinn@hnw.law

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENTS

Patricia J. Small and Margaret A. Duke (sometimes hereinafter "Respondents") submit this Answer to the Petition for Review filed by Nationstar Mortgage, LLC.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 12, 2009, Danny R. Schultz gave a Deed to his sister and niece for a house located at 1011 Coach Ct., Grandview, Washington. (CP 62-63; CP 108-109; CP 171; CP 69; CP 73). The Deed read, in part, as follows:

GRANTOR, DANNY R. SCHULTZ, a single person, for and in consideration of love and affection, grants and conveys to PATRICIA J. SMALL, a married person as her separate estate, and MARGARET A. DUKE, a single person, a complete and <u>unlimited right of survivorship jointly between them, in all of his interest</u> in the following described real estate, situated in the County of Yakima, State of Washington

Lot 62, Carriage Square, Yakima County, Washington.

ASSESSOR'S PARCEL NO. 230923-33461

*

*

The rights of Grantees hereunder shall be superior to all interests created by Grantor hereafter, or imposed by law hereafter, if any.

Grantor hereby warrants and agrees to defend Grantee against any defects appearing in title to said real estate to the extent that such defects are insured against under a title insurance policy for said real estate where the Grantor is a nominal insured.

The Grantor, for it and its successors in interests, does by these presents expressly limit the covenants of this deed to those herein expressed, and excludes all covenants arising or to arise by statutory or other implication.

(CP 62-63; CP 108-109; emphasis added).

This Deed was recorded on January 11, 2010, under Yakima County Auditor's File No. 7679045. (CP 62-63; CP 108-109).

Thereafter, on November 23, 2010 the Deed's Grantor, Danny R. Schultz, executed a Fixed Rate Home Equity Conversion Deed of Trust (a reverse mortgage) in favor of Genworth Financial Home Equity Access, Inc., unbeknownst to Respondents Small and Duke. (CP 69; CP 73; CP 27-38). The deed of trust was then twice assigned, winding up in the hands of the Petitioner Nationstar in July of 2012. According to Nationstar it had registered to do business under the fictitious name, Champion Mortgage Company, which is the d/b/a

listed in their Petition. (CP 15-16; CP 40-42, 44, 46-48). Soon after acquiring the mortgage assignment in February of 2014, Nationstar commenced this foreclosure action in Yakima County Superior Court claiming that Danny Schultz had failed to pay taxes and insurance for the property so the bank accelerated payment of the principal balance of \$81,848.16 and sought to collect interest, late charges and other advances totaling \$20,597.16, and sued to foreclose its deed of trust naming Respondents Small and Duke whose deed came before the bank's reverse mortgage as holders of a future interest in the property. (CP 13-19).

Respondents Small and Duke counter and cross-claimed contending that "Defendant Danny Schultz lacked either an interest in the Property or lawful authority to grant a security interest in all or a portion of the Property" and that "Title to the property ... should be declared, quieted, and cleared in favor of Small and Duke as to any ownership, lien, or other interest that Schultz claims in the Property." (CP 49-57; 53, lines 23-25; 57, lines 1-3).

In the trial court Respondents Small and Duke moved for summary judgment seeking an order: (1) dismissing Nationstar's claims against them; (2) declaring theirs as superior interests in the property; and (3) quieting title in them as to an interest of Nationstar's, Mr. Schultz's or of any other defendant. (CP 76).

Nationstar defended by calling the Deed "nonsensical" and not conveying any recognized interest to Small and Duke or, alternatively that with resort to extrinsic evidence Mr. Schultz could be found to own the property outright free of any concurrent interest with Small and Duke based upon what he might say. (CP 142-147).

Yakima County Superior Court Judge Michael McCarthy determined the Deed was not ambiguous, that it effectively granted a life estate to the Defendant Danny Schultz with a remainder interest to Small and Duke. The ruling meant that Nationstar could seek foreclosure only upon Mr. Schultz's life estate interest. (CP 173-178; RP 27-28).

The Court of Appeals affirmed, agreeing with Respondents Small and Duke's position that the Deed granted them fee title without a life estate in favor of Mr. Schultz, but because the Respondents had not cross-appealed and had indicated to the Court of Appeals they were satisfied with the lower court's ruling, the appellate court did not

disturb the lower court's order. *Nationstar Mortgage v. Danny R. Schultz, et al.*, Division III, No. 36183-7-III, Unpublished Opinion Filed December 10, 2019.

Defendant Danny Schultz, brother to Patricia, uncle to Margaret, never responded to Respondents Small and Duke's crossclaim, did not participate in the summary judgment, nor in Nationstar's appeal for that matter. (*See*, CP 77, lines 14-16; CP 173-176). According to information introduced in the summary judgment proceedings, Defendant Danny Schultz would now be 74-years old, has suffered from PTSD since the Vietnam War, suffers from severe diabetes, has been diagnosed with congestive heart failure, and as of June, 2016 was subsisting on Social Security payments and food stamps of approximately \$1,000 a month. (CP 112, 152).

III. APPLICABLE REVIEW STANDARDS

This case arrived in the Court of Appeals via CR 54(b) because the lower court's Order did not dispense with all the parties' claims. (*See*, CP 175, Para. 3). Nevertheless, the Petitioner is treating the Court of Appeals' decision as one "terminating review" so Respondents Small and Duke will, similarly, treat the Petition as

falling under RAP 13.4 and subject to the considerations governing acceptance of review from a decision terminating review. RAP 13.4(b) provides that a petition for review will only be granted by the Supreme Court if one of four conditions are met: (1) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; (2) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with the decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; (3) if a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or the United States is involved; or (4) if the Petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

None of the issues presented by Nationstar meet any of these requirements and Nationstar does not even address these requirements in its Petition. Interpretation of this one-of-a-kind Deed does not conflict with any Supreme Court or Court of Appeals' decision. No Constitutional question nor any issue of substantial public interest is presented. The Court of Appeals correctly analyzed an unambiguous deed and there is no basis under RAP 13.4(b) for this Court to accept review.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Determined that the Deed was Unambiguous.

The Survivorship Conveyance Deed (CP 62-63; CP 108-109) has one Grantor, Danny R. Schultz. The Deed "grants and conveys to" somebody, namely Patricia J. Small and Margaret A. Duke, "a complete and unlimited right of survivorship jointly between them." The Deed is not from Danny to Patricia, Margaret and Danny because Danny is not listed amongst the deed's Grantees. The deed conveys "all of his interest", that would be Danny's, to Patricia and Margaret, the sole Grantees. Simple application of rules of common English produce this one and only construction of the Deed.

The Deed's Grantor and Grantees are separated by the word "to". One person is giving something "to" some other people. The Grantor, Danny Schultz, is the subject doing the action, granting the object (a property interest by right of survivorship) "to" the recipients, Patricia and Margaret. Since the object (the property interest by right of survivorship), is granted "to" "them" there is separation of the subject (the Grantor) from the recipients thereby making the recipients (Patricia and Margaret) the antecedents for the pronoun "them".

This is merely the common English application of the antecedent pronoun test. The pronoun "them" stands in for the antecedent nouns, Patricia and Margaret. Or, as former Justice Antonin Scalia referred to it, the "Last-Antecedent Canon" in his treatise, Reading Law: The Interpretation of Legal Text, by Antonin Scalia and Bryan A. Garner, 1st Edition, 2012. Justice Scalia's Eighteenth Canon is that "A pronoun, relative pronoun, or demonstrative adjective generally refers to the nearest reasonable antecedent." In addition, the words "between them" indicates two parties, Patricia and Margaret, as the recipients of the object (the property interest by right of survivorship). "Among" is ordinarily used with three or more entities, whereas "between" involves two, as in this case. See, A Writers Reference, Diana Hackers and Nancy Sommers, 2016 update, Eighth Edition, pg. 162. The only other pronoun in the Deed, "his" clearly relates to Danny Schultz as it is all of "his" interest (he is the only male antecedent noun) who gives all "his" interest to "them", Patricia and Margaret. All of this is to say, that the Court of Appeals' legal construction of the Deed's language is absolutely correct. As concluded in the Appellate Court's ruling:

Nationstar claims the Deed issued by Mr. Schultz to Ms. Small and Ms. Duke was ambiguous. According to Nationstar, the use of the word "them" in the first paragraph of the Deed, CP at 62, could refer to: (1) Ms. Small and Ms. Duke, or (2) Mr. Schultz, Ms. Small and Ms. Duke. In the first circumstance, Mr. Schultz would have retained no interest in the property and, therefore, he was unable to encumber the property through a subsequent deed of trust. But in the second, Mr. Schultz would have retained a joint tenancy with Ms. Small and Ms. Duke. Under such circumstances, Nationstar would be able to proceed with foreclosure against Mr. Schultz's interest.

We disagree with Nationstar's assertion of ambiguity. The Deed identifies Mr. Schultz as the sole "Grantor." The operative language then states the Deed Id.conveys "all of his" interest in the subject property. Id. (emphasis added). Mr. Schultz is the only male party to the transaction. The Deed's remaining language distinguishes between the rights of the "Grantees" and those of the "Grantor." Id. at 62-63. The sum total of the language used makes clear the parties did not intend Mr. Schultz to stand on equal footing as Ms. Small and Ms. Duke. The word "them" very clearly refers only to Ms. Small and Ms. Duke. Given this unmistakable reference, the Deed can only be read as conveying all of Mr. Schultz's property interests to Ms. Small and Ms. Duke.

Nationstar Mortgage v. Danny R. Schultz, et al., Division III, No. 36183-7-III, Unpublished Opinion Pg. 5-6.

This construction conforms with all the rules summarized in Newport Yacht Basin Ass'n of Condo. Owners v. Supreme NW, Inc., 168 Wn. App. 56, 277 P.3d 18 (2012), as follows:

- 1. "In general, we determine the intent of the parties from the language of the Deed as a whole. . . . '[I]f the intention of the parties may be clearly and certainly determined from the language they employ, recourse will not be had to extrinsic evidence for the purpose of ascertaining their intention." *Id.* at 64-65.
- 2. "[T]he language of the written instrument is the best evidence of the intent of the original parties to a deed." *Id.* at 65. And, as the Court of Appeals also so aptly pointed out if there were any doubt, the deed will generally be construed against the grantor, a grantor cannot derogate from his grant. *Id.* at 65.

Nationstar tries to create an ambiguity by arguing that the very bolded language used in the Deed which should have warned off any lender from making a loan to the Deed's Grantor, Danny Schultz, secured by this property, was maybe meant to show that Mr. Schultz retained an interest in the property. The bolded language is as follows:

The rights of Grantees hereunder shall be superior to all interests created by Grantor hereafter, or imposed by law hereafter, if any.

(CP. 62-63; CP 108-109).

The bold language is a simple warranty that the Grantor, Mr. Schultz, was not to encumber or affect the interest he conveyed to Respondents Small and Duke. He warranted that no title defects had arisen our would arise due to his own acts or omissions. Respondents Small and Duke pointed out to the Court of Appeals in their briefing, there are several cases holding that a Grantor who allows a third party to establish an adverse possession claim to become perfected violates warranties by, through or under the Grantor. A similar situation could arise in the case of mechanic's or materialmen's liens for work commissioned by a grantor either prior to his conveyance or during his post-closing occupancy. Cf., Egli v. *Troy*, 602 NW2d. 329, 332 (Iowa Sup. Ct. 1999) (special warranty deed warrants against adverse possession acquiesced in by the grantor and warrants against encumbrances such as mechanic's liens imposed by others); State Bank & Trust of Kenmare v. Brekke, 602 NW2d. 681, 685 (N.D. Sup. Ct. 1999) (special warrant deed warrants title against adverse possession claim arising by, under, or through the grantor). The warranties found in a bargain and sale deed (RCW 64.04.040) were the type expressly set forth in the bold language warranting Mr.

Schultz's conveyance against claims made by, through, or under him, or from encumbrances suffered by him. *See, Central Life Insurance SOC. V. Impelmans*, 13 Wn.2d 632, 645, 126 P.2d 757 (1942). Indeed, Nationstar's attorney in oral argument conceded the identified language was a warranty (RP 20). It is not, however, a warranty dependent upon Mr. Schultz retaining a property interest. There is no requirement that a grantor must retain a property interest in order to warrant his conveyance against future encumbrances, especially if he continues to reside on the premises at the pleasure of the Grantees.

This was yet another argument of Nationstar's, that by Respondents Small and Duke allowing their brother/uncle who suffered from severe diabetes, heart disease, riddled with PTSD as a Vietnam war veteran and living on social security payments and food stamps to remain on the property after the conveyance deed, that somehow demonstrated his retention of a fee interest. Respondents' kindness does not create a property interest. "A valid gift of real estate may be made *inter vivos* even though the donor may retain the use, management and control of the property during his lifetime."

Holohan v. Melville, 41 Wn.2d 380, 400 249 P.2d 777 (1952), citing
In Re Cunningham Estate, 19 Wn.2d 589, 143 P.2d 852 (1943).

B. The Lower Court's Construction Granting a Life Estate to Defendant Schultz is Not a Basis for Review by the Supreme Court.

Respondents Small and Duke argued to the Court of Appeals that the proper legal construction of the Deed in question was that it conveyed a fee simple interest to them in joint tenancy, with right of survivorship with a special warranty from Mr. Schultz that no title defects would appear due to any acts or omissions on his part. Respondent Small and Duke also represented to the Appellate Court, however, that they were perfectly willing to live with the lower court's construction of the Deed as reserving a life estate to Mr. Schultz, but without question their interest was still superior to Nationstar's as a matter of law. Respondent Small and Duke asked the Appellate Court to either affirm the trial court's ruling (because they were willing to abide a ruling allowing their brother/uncle a continuing life estate) or they invited the Appellate Court to modify its decision pursuant to RAP 12.2 to indicate that the Deed really granted them their absolute, vested fee title interest as joint tenants with right of survivorship with no remaining property interest vested in Mr. Schultz.

The Court of Appeals agreed with Respondents Small and Duke's legal construction of the Deed. That it did grant them a fee simple interest, with right of survivorship, and with no remaining property interest in the hands of Mr. Schultz. However, because Respondents Small and Duke had not cross-appealed, the Court left the lower court's ruling intact. Under these circumstances, Petitioner's argument appears to be that because Respondents Small and Duke did not cross-appeal to secure the Appellate Court's confirmation that the Deed granted them absolute fee title that this merits reversal and remand. Petitioner strives for a Pyrrhic victor to eliminate the life estate component to the Deed the Court of Appeals has already correctly ruled unambiguously grants a fee simple interest to Respondents Small and Duke, only. Again, seeking such a Pyrrhic victory in the Supreme Court meets none of the RAP 13.4(b) requirements for triggering Washington State Supreme Court review.

V. CONCLUSION

This is a case of some extraordinarily careless lenders. With title report in hand disclosing the existence of the preceding Deed to Respondents Small and Duke containing the express, bolded warning that the rights of Respondents Small and Duke were to be "superior to all interests created by [the] Grantor," Danny Schultz, the lenders involved, Genworth Financial Home Equity and its ultimate assignee Nationstar, ignored these warnings and apparently staked Mr. Schultz to a \$181,650 loan. (CP 124). Now, after the fact, they want to secure extrinsic evidence from Mr. Schultz in the hope that he will derogate from the express grant and warranty he made in his Deed to Respondents Small and Duke. (See Nationstar's Petition for Review, pg. 7, last sentence). The function of the Washington State Supreme Court is not to relieve negligent lenders from reading previously recorded instruments which deprive them of collateral. There is no merit to Petitioner's request for review by this Court. Nationstar's Petition for Review should be denied.